
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-08-18CityCouncil/2022-08-18CityCouncilAgenda.docx 
8/17/2022 10:31 AM 

                  

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 
 CITY OF WATERLOO COUNCIL AGENDA 

COUNCIL CHAMBER OF THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING – 136 N. MONROE STREET 
Thursday, August 18, 2022 – 7:00 p.m. 

Participate Remotely Or In-Person 
 Updated 8/16/2022 11:40pm 

 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84692505667?pwd=QnRKWFlCZk54Q1hMKzd5cGFaQzZGZz09 
Meeting ID: 846 9250 5667     Passcode: 028819 
Dial by phone      +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
         

 
Pursuant to Section 19.84 Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given to the public and news media, that a public meeting will 
be held to consider the following: 
 
1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL 

 
2) MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: August 4, 2022 

 
3) CITIZEN INPUT / PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
4) OLD BUSINESS  

 
5) MEETING SUMMARIES (since last Council meeting) 

a) 08/16/2022 Community Development Authority 
b) 08/18/2022 Finance, Insurance & Personnel Committee 

 
6) CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 

a) June Reports of City Officials & Contract Service Providers 
i) Parks  
ii) Fire & Emergency Medical Services 
iii) Building Inspections 
iv) Public Works 
v) Police 
vi) Library Board 
vii) Water & Light Utility Commission 
viii) Watertown Humane Society 
ix) Cable Television  

 
 

7) RECOMMENDATIONS OF BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS 
a) Waterloo Utilities 

i) Industrial Sewer Agreements – Final 
b) Finance, Insurance & Personnel 

i) June  2022 Financial Statements: General Disbursements $824,227.05; Payroll $82,316.02 & 
Clerk/Treasurer’s Reports [see on municipal website] 

ii) Resolution 2022-28 Establishing a 2023 municipal Vehicle Registration Fee Status Per adopted Ordinance 
#2019-08 

iii) Lateral Entry into Waterloo PD – Compensation discussion [NOTE: Council may meet in closed session per 
Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1)(c) “considering employment, promotion, compensation or performance evaluation data of an 
public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercise responsibility.  Upon concluding 
a closed session, the Council will reconvene in open session.] 

 
8) NEW BUSINESS 

a) Class A Beer, Liquor & Cider License Applications Along With a Cigarette License Application For The Period 
8/10/2022 – 6/30/2023. Piggly Wiggly Store/Day’s Family Foods INC. 810 N Monroe St. Waterloo Nathan Perry 
Agent.   

http://www.waterloowi.us/
:%20https:/us02web.zoom.us/j/84692505667?pwd=QnRKWFlCZk54Q1hMKzd5cGFaQzZGZz09
https://www.waterloowi.us/clerk-treasurer/pages/monthly-financial-statements


https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-08-18CityCouncil/2022-08-18CityCouncilAgenda.docx 
8/17/2022 10:31 AM 

 
 

9) FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS  
a) Proposal to do an assessment for TID#4 and discuss closure 

 
 

10) ADJOURNMENT 
 

Jeanne Ritter Clerk/Deputy Treasurer       Posted & Emailed: 08/15/2022  

PLEASE NOTE: It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above 

meeting(s) to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body other than that specifically noticed. Also, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be 

made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information or to request such services please contact the 
clerk’s office at the above location 



Page 1 of 2  
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-08-04CityCouncil/2022-08-
04CityCouncilMinutes.docx 
8/9/2022 12:16 PM 

CITY OF WATERLOO COMMON COUNCIL - MEETING MINUTES: August 4, 2022 
[a digital recording of this meeting also serves as the official record] 

 
1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & ROLL CALL. Mayor Quimby called the meeting to order at 7:00 

p.m. Alderpersons present: Cummings, A. Kuhl, C. Kuhl, Griffin, Thomas. Alderpersons attending remotely: Petts. 
Absent: Weihert. Others attending remotely or in-person: Police Chief Sorenson; Treasurer/ Deputy Clerk 
Tschanz; Utility Supervisor Sorenson; Library Director Kelli Mountford; DPW Director Yerges; Clerk Jeanne Ritter 
and WLOO videographers. The pledge of allegiance was recited. 

 
2) MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: July 21, 2022 [ Cummings/C. Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion Carried. Petts abstain 

 
3) CITIZEN INPUT / PUBLIC COMMENT – none 

 
4) OLD BUSINESS 

 
5) MEETING SUMMARIES (since last Council meeting)  

a) 07/25/2022 Fire/EMS Meeting - none 
b) 07/28/2022 Plan Commission – Cancelled  
c) 07/28/2022 Library Board – 2023 budget/ carpet.  Good summer numbers. 
d) 08/01/2022 Special Finance Meeting – Finance met with the Supporters.  Currently there are 2 supporter 

accounts.  Discussion on ordinances.   
e) 08/02/2022 Waterloo Water & Light – Discussion of sewer rates.  Still waiting on 1 industrial agreement to be 

signed.   
f) 08/03/2022 Parks Commission – Discussion on 2023 budget 
g) 08/04/2022 Public Safety & Health Committee on agenda 
h) 08/04/2022 Public Works & Property Committee -  Road construction updates.   

 
 
6) RECOMMENDATIONS OF BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS 

a) Public Safety & Health Committee 
i) Wiener & Kraut 5K/2M Friends of KJML 9/10/2022 [Thomas/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried. 

Pending confirmation of insurance.    
ii) Wiener & Kraut Day, Waterloo Business Association 9/10/2022 [Thomas/Griffin] VOICE VOTE: Motion 

carried.  Currently waiting on insurance from Association.   
iii) Lateral Entry into Waterloo PD – Compensation discussion  [NOTE: Council may meet in closed session 

per Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1)(c) “considering employment, promotion, compensation or performance evaluation 
data of an public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercise responsibility.  
Upon concluding a closed session, the Council will reconvene in open session.] Recommend to send to 
finance. [Thomas/C. Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

iv) Request to Hire Morgan Matz as part time officer.  Special Events and fill in as needed.  
[Thomas/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

b) Public Works 
i) Ordinance 2022-11 Update Culvert 184-4 [Weihert/A.Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
ii) Ordinance 2022-12 Update Weed Notice 261-3 [Weihert/Cummings] C. Kuhl would like to see correct 

gender in ordinance.  Weihert corrected motion to include gender neutral. VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.  
 

7) NEW BUSINESS 
a) Resolution 2022-27 Authorize 2022 Debt - Request for Bids for $1,940,000 for various Capital Projects 

Proposals. Capital Bank has the lowest rate. [Cummings/C. Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
b) Ordinance 2022-10 Amending Municipal Code Section §53-4 Budget Revising the Budget Deliberation 

Sequence.  [Thomas/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.  Change wording add shall and change 
establishing to establish. 

c) Resolution 2022-26 Use of Street and Alleys – This is part of the USDA grant.  [Thomas/Griffin] VOICE VOTE: 
Motion carried.   

d) Agreement to Freeze Selling 333 Portland Rd for 60 days while working on Developer Agreement with Nate 
Snyder.  [Cummings/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.  Griffin abstain.   

e) Approval of Extra-Territorial CSM Map for Kurt and Kyle Skalitzky division of property.  [Weihert/Cummings] 
VOICE VOTE:  Motion carried.   

f) Proclamation Recognizing McKay Nursery for 125 years in Business 



Page 2 of 2  
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-08-04CityCouncil/2022-08-
04CityCouncilMinutes.docx 
8/9/2022 12:16 PM 

g) Proclamation Recognizing F & M Bank for 125 years in Business 
h) Approve new Library Board Member Miriam Schilling [A.Kuhl/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

 
8) FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS – Election on Tuesday.  Next meeting the Mayor will be out at 

a meeting but will attend remotely.  Alderperson Thomas will be in charge of the meeting.   
 

9) ADJOURNMENT [ C. Kuhl/Thomas] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried. 7:35 pm 

 
 
Attest: 
Jeanne Ritter Clerk/Deputy Treasurer 



Page 1 of 1 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/sites/fileshares/data/common/parks/2022/parks commision meetings/coordinator reports/08-03-2022 coordinator report.docx 

8/2/2022 4:29 PM 

 
 

                 

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PARKS COORDINATOR REPORT 
April 2022 – August 2022 

 
EVENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS 

 JULY 4TH – Cancelled 

 SUMMER CONCERTS – Successful 

 VOLLEYBALL LEAGUE – Successful 
 
ONGOING PROJECTS 

 BATHROOM RENOVATION 
o Stalls installed 
o Lighting installed 
o Venting being installed end of week 

 DUG-OUT/PRESS BOX RENOVATIONS 
o Waiting on fencing to be completed 

 
FINISHED PROJECTS 

 LOWER PAVILION WORK 

 FENCE PROJECT 

 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT 

 RED DOOR REPLACEMENT 
 
CAROUSEL 

 CAROUSEL WORKS (OHIO) 
o Coming in early November to go over Carousel 

 
PROJECTS FOR 2022 

 LOWER PARKING LOT PAVING 
o Paving area in front of concession stand over to the Carousel 

 KITCHEN RENOVATION 
o Updating Kitchen for possible rentals 

 AIR CONDITION UPDATES 
o New AC at Waterloo Regional Trailhead 
o Updating AC in Park Pavilion 

 
DONATION CAMPAIGNS 

 
GRANT OPPORTUNITIES 

http://www.waterloowi.us/




































Karl Junginger Memorial Library / Mayor/Council/Board Report -JUNE 2022 

JUNE MONTHLY STATISTICS JAN FEB MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC 

Library Card Holders 2021 2468 2477 2496 2499 2482 2519 2533 2539 2561 2544 2464 2397

2022 2400 2410 2420 2432 2453 2485 2516

% of Change -2.76% -2.70% -3.04% -2.68% -1.17% -1.35% -0.67% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Checkouts (Circulation) 2021 3263 3312 3601 3425 3352 4483 4826 3764 3475 3499 3245 3194

2022 3920 3624 4192 3486 3361 4768 4306

% of Change 20.13% 9.42% 16.41% 1.78% 0.27% 6.36% -10.77% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

eBook/Audio Checkouts 2021 593 607 585 536 562 498 573 665 591 655 568 627

(Circulation) 2022 663 711 705 669 633 639 663

% of Change 11.80% 17.13% 20.51% 24.81% 12.63% 28.31% 15.71% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Library Visits 2021 1396 1259 1539 1125 747 1236 1799 1685 1491 850 1422 1497

2022 1462 1584 1820 1710 1627 1530 2118

% of Change 4.73% 25.81% 18.26% 52.00% 117.80% 23.79% 17.73% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Meeting Room Use 2021 1 0 6 5 8 9 3 6 7 2 10 8

2022 10 10 8 8 16 11 6

% of Change 900.00% 900.00% 33.33% 60.00% 44.44% 22.22% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% 100.00% -100.00%

Public Computer Use 2021 74 92 117 86 87 69 64 70 72 80 84 40

2022 60 73 74 61 57 73 72

% of Change -18.92% -20.65% -36.75% -29.07% -34.48% 5.80% 12.50% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

WiFi Use 2021 139 166 147 161 154 171 166 159 195 173 182 185

2022 174 189 206 210 216 254 217

% of Change 25.18% 13.86% 40.14% 30.43% 40.26% 48.54% 30.72% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Outreach to local 2021 122 88 96 91 111 109 69 92 142 88 86 133

residents -Checkouts 2022 114 90 132 89 155 63 177

% of Change -6.56% 2.27% 37.50% -2.20% 39.64% -42.20% 156.52% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

PROGRAMS *2022 #'s will include In-Person and Passive programs

Adult  Number of Programs 2021 4 6 4 4 3 6 5 5 6 11 19 11

2022 21 19 18 18 17 14 14

% of Change 425.00% 216.67% 350.00% 350.00% 466.67% 133.33% 180.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Adult Attendance 2021 46 44 34 25 28 130 35 77 28 112 107 51

2022 193 114 117 139 126 154 144

% of Change 319.57% 159.09% 244.12% 456.00% 350.00% 18.46% 311.43% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Teen (12-18) 2021 1 1 1 1 1 8 10 0 1 1 1 1

Number of programs 2022 3 2 2 2 1 10 9

% of Change 200.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 25.00% -10.00% #DIV/0! -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Attendance 2021 20 25 22 22 20 154 21 0 0 0 1 0

2022 39 25 36 24 24 90 91

% of Change 95.00% 0.00% 63.64% 9.09% 9.30% -41.56% 333.33% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! -100.00% #DIV/0!

Children's 2021 6 7 9 6 2 19 20 10 9 11 11 8

Number of programs 2022 17 30 16 6 14 29 32

% of Change 183.33% 328.57% 77.78% 0.00% 600.00% 52.63% 60.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Attendance 2021 95 184 257 182 84 1133 973 348 58 112 105 73

2022 307 257 308 255 904 1457 1173

% of Change 223.16% 39.67% 19.84% 40.11% 976.19% 28.60% 20.55% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%



Regular meeting of the Waterloo Water & Light Commission held August 2, 2022
The meeting was called to order by President Tom Bergan at 7:00pm at the Waterloo Utilities
office. Present were Commissioners Vern Butzine, Devin Schumann, Tim Thomas, Chuck Wallace,
Superintendent Barry Sorenson, Office Manager Joy Bisco and Ben Heidemann Town and Country
Engineering.

Minutes
It was moved by Schumann, seconded by Butzine, to approve the minutes of the July 12, 2022 and
July 20, 2022 meetings. Motion carried.

Expenditures
It was moved by Thomas, seconded by Bergan, to approve the payment of the July bills as
presented. Motion carried.

Citizen Input
None.

Sewer Rates
Ben updated the projected sewer rates with the completion of the Industrial Contracts.

2nd Qtr Financials
Joy presented 2nd quarter financials.

It was moved by Butzine, seconded by Schumann, to adjourn. Motion carried.

Respectfully submitted,
Tim Thomas
Secretary



List of Bills

Accurate Powerwashing LLC 2,225.00 Pig 31.25

Axley Brynelson LLP 29.60 Payroll 56,469.43

Border States 500.03 Portland Sanitary District 10,202.41

BP Credit Card Center 3,472.58 PSC 214.23

Brogin Investment LLC 1,396.39 Resco 548.00

City of Waterloo Treasurer 44,055.58 SEERA 1,314.39

Charter Communications 144.97 S&S Plumbing 5,900.00

C&M Hydraulic Tool Supply 3,947.00 Town & Country Engineering 65,897.70

Diggers Hotline 664.15 TSTM Incorporated 2,149.68

F&M Bank 186.55 United Liquid Waste Recycling 2,010.68

Elster Solutions 2,826.88 Utility Sales and Service 8,232.16

Forster Electrical Engineering 11,688.57 US Cellular 250.75

Frontier 409.41 Unifirst Corp 160.86

GFC Leasing 94.00 USA Blue Book 1,224.64

Hallman Asphalt & Sealing 3,500.00 UPS 129.59

Howie's Hardware 1,231.42 Visa 1,459.82

Infosend 896.47 Waterloo Building Center 55.14

Irby 25,725.91 Waterloo Utilities 15,165.62

Jonas Office Products 93.98 WE Energies 254.56

K Press & Trends 1,612.00 Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue 14,996.71

Midwest Meter Inc 8,112.25 Wisconsin State Lab 26.00

Northern Lake Service 495.27 WPPI Energy 309,379.74

North Central Lab 1,896.36

Payment Service Network 46.10

Total Disbursements $611,323.83

Checking Account #102-613:

Balance 6/30/22 $102,816.87

Transfer 300,000.00

Disbursements (301,711.44)

Interest 7.56

Service Charge (21.33)

Balance 7/31/22 $101,091.66

WWTP Account #374-547 (DNR Replacement Fund)

Balance 6/30/22 $86,724.48

Deposit/ (Withdrawal)

Interest 10.34

Balance 7/31/22 $86,734.82

Debt Service Account #3015323:

Balance 6/30/22 $377,328.77

Deposit 58,650.00

Bond Payment

Interest 320.57
Balance 7/31/22 $436,299.34

Money Market Account #110-832:

Balance 6/30/22 82,083.48

Deposits 1,226,979.52

Transfer (358,650.00)

Disbursements (309,379.74)

Interest 181.19

Service Charge (211.32)
Balance 7/31/22 $641,003.13

Transportation Fund

Balance 6/30/22 $95,052.99

Transfer
Balance 7/31/22 $95,052.99

Construction Account:

Balance 6/30/22 286,744.14

Transferred in/(out)
Balance 7/31/22 $286,744.14

WWTP Interim Financing:

Balance 6/30/22

Transferred in $940,900.00

Transferred in (582,947.03)

Interest 174.95

Service Charge (5.16)

Balance 7/31/22 $358,122.76

Avestar CD #3596 (Bond Reserve):

Balance 6/30/22 311,573.09

Interest 155.36
Balance 7/31/22 $311,728.45

CD #613386 (Bond Reserve):

Balance 6/30/22 217,863.86

Interest
Balance 7/31/22 $217,863.86

WWTP CD #2875 (DNR Replacement Fund):

Balance 6/30/22 $464,612.87

Interest 231.67
Balance 7/31/22 $464,844.54







Minutes for July 12th 2022 CATV Board Meeting, 7 pm 

 

 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call. Meeting called to order at 7:12 pm. Cotting, Jacob, 

Lewandowski, and Teubert present with one vacancy. Manager Davis present. Invited guest Jeff 

Robbins, Manager of KSUN, arrived at 7:18 

. 

Welcome New Board Member Paula Jacob! 

  

2. Approval of Previously Unapproved Meeting Minutes: 

Regular Minutes from June 8, 2022 meeting. Approved, with the noted correction “Jacob” not 

“Jacobs”. Lewandowski, Teubert. Unanimous with Jacob abstaining. 

Closed Session Meeting Minutes from June 8, 2022. Approved. Cotting, Lewandowski. 

Unanimous with Teubert and Jacob abstaining. 

3. Citizen Input.  

 

4. Manager’s report. 

WLOO completed its project with the Waterloo Elementary Summer School Class, and it will be 

premiering on WLOO CATV’s Facebook page soon. We supported the Waterloo Business 

Association by helping promote its Van Holten’s Pickling event. Our two new hires have been 

working with us as of June and that seems to be working out well. Soon they will be working on 

a project together. We covered lots of Waterloo Firemens’ Park sporting events and placed our 

new banner in the park with all of our contact information. Our flyers were placed at the Karl 

Junginger Memorial Library where they will be handed out to help spread awareness about the 

station. Our Facebook page has really been picking up thanks to the support received by the 

community. We will be receiving more equipment soon and inventory will be taken after. Our 

station activity is operating efficiently. 

 

5. New Business 

A. Possible Collaboration with Sun Prairie Public Access (Jeff Robbins)  

Jeff Robbins, Station manager for KSUN (Sn Prairie’s Public Access channel) shared 

information about KSUN operations, shared information, and offered ongoing advice as needed. 

Main points: KSUN is also very concerned about the steady decline of revenue from franchise 

fees and actively looking to develop new revenue streams. KSUN has developed revenue from 

membership fees (183 community members), kids’ program (Grades 4-8, 1 day/week, October-

April), and workshops. Also noted PEG stations CAN be monetized, he will send us the 

statutory language describing conditions. Robbins said KSUN has no issue with PEG channel 

signal clarity and advised that the stronger the case made for PEG channel being active the 

more incentive for Spectrum to do their part and clean up the signal. 

KSUN structure for workshops and kids’ programming is in groups: one staff member, one 

student, and six kids. High retention. 

KSUN has its own radio station, 103.5 FM. It’s popular and a great recruiting tool. 

In response to equipment questions: Since Leightronix will no longer be working with Cable 

stations, who should WLOO approach for a new vendor?  KSUN uses TeleVue, very satisfied 



with them, especially with their technical support. What’s the preferred camera set up for 

energetic indoor games such as basketball?  KSUN has great success with a “Huddle” camera.  

It is wall mounted and has a motion sensor, so it can follow the action. It is GREAT for 

basketball. 

 

B. Preliminary 2023 Budget Discussion 

Cotting presented figures from this year’s budget and noted that WLOO CATV was staying on 

budget or even below budget for this year’s expenditures. Cotting reminded the Board that it 

committed to a policy of deficit spending for 2022 and 2023 in order to expand the station 

enough so it had the capability of generating additional revenue streams. 

 

6. Unfinished Business.  

A. Official WLOO CATV Shirts and/or Hats. No action needed 

 

B. WLOO Cable and Waterloo School District Partnership Plan Feedback still needed from 

Jacob and Davis. 

 

7. Future Agenda Items and Announcements.  

Next Meeting: TUESDAY August 9th, 2022 at 6:00 pm.  

 

8. Adjournment Motion: Cotting/Teubert. Unanimous. Meeting adjourned at 9:09 pm. 

 

Respectfully submitted 8-8-2022 by WLOO CATV Board Secretary Laura Cotting 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 17 

AGREEMENT FOR WASTEWATER TREATMENT SERVICES 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF WATERLOO, WISCONSIN 

AND AB E MANUFACTURING, LLC 
 

 
 Agreement (the “Agreement”) made this ___ day of      
 , 2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Waterloo, a municipal 
corporation (the “City”) and Ab E Manufactuing, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (the 
“Company”). 
 

W I T N E S S E T H : 
 

 WHEREAS, the Company owns and operates a manufacturing facility located at 700 
Commercial Avenue, Waterloo, Wisconsin (the “Facility”), which generates industrial 
wastewaters; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a sanitary sewerage system, consisting of a 
collection/transmission system and a wastewater treatment facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City operates its sanitary sewerage system in accordance with a WPDES 
permit (the “WPDES Permit”) issued by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 
(“DNR”) which permit establishes a number of requirements concerning the treatment and 
disposal of wastewaters generated within the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is willing to accept the industrial wastewater discharges from the 
Facility into its sanitary sewerage system subject to certain specified conditions; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Company believe it to be in the best interests of both parties 
to enter into this Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained 
and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the City will accept and agrees to treat the Company’s industrial wastewaters, and 
the Company agrees to pay for such service under the following terms: 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

SERVICE 
 

1.1 City’s Control Over Sewerage System. The City has and shall retain control over the access 
of all users to its sanitary sewerage collection system and wastewater treatment plant 
(collectively “WWTP”).  Except as set forth herein, this Agreement is not intended to and 
shall not be construed as  granting the Company the right to use the City’s WWTP, except 
on the same basis as other  members of the general public. 
 



 

Page 2 of 17 

1.2 Agreed Discharge Limitations. It is agreed and understood that in return for the 
performance of the Company’s obligations contained herein and for the payments to be 
made by the Company under this Agreement, the City will accept and treat the Company’s 
industrial wastewater discharges from the Facility, subject to the limitations specified in 
Exhibit A hereto (the “Agreed Discharge Limitations” or “ADLs”). 
 

1.3 Points of Discharge and Monitoring. All industrial wastewater discharges shall be 
discharged to the City’s public sewer system at a single location, approved by the City, and 
shall be subject to the monitoring and pretreatment requirements set forth herein.  
 

1.4 Prohibitions on Discharges. No discharge of storm water, groundwater, surface drainage 
or uncontaminated cooling water shall be made to the City’s WWTP.  All wastewater 
discharges shall be strictly in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations; 
including but not limited to the City’s code of ordinances and sewer use ordinance, subject 
to Section 7.1 herein.  
 

1.5 ADL Exceedances. The City shall assess a Penalty Charge (as provided for in Section 3.4 
below) against the Company for each event in which the Company’s industrial wastewater 
discharges to the City exceeds one or more of the following conditions:  

 
(i) The daily discharge for flow, BOD, SS, or phosphorus for any 24-hour period 

exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL for that parameter;  
 

(ii) The daily discharge has a pH value outside the permitted range; or 
 

(iii) The daily discharge is in violation of the City’s code of ordinances or sewer use 
ordinance, subject to Section 7.1 herein.  

 
1.6 Walk-Through.  Upon reasonable notice to the Company, the City and/or its engineers may 

perform periodic inspections of the pretreatment process and discharge of industrial 
wastewaters at the Facility, for purposes of determining compliance with this Agreement.  
Refusal to permit any such inspection upon reasonable request shall constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
INDUSTRIAL PRETREATMENT 

 
2.1 Pretreatment and Sampling Station.  The Company shall maintain a pretreatment process 

at the Facility as is necessary to ensure that the wastewater discharges from the Facility 
meet the ADLs.  The pretreatment process at the Facility is more particularly described in 
Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Plan”).  The Company shall 
construct and maintain the sampling station in accordance with the Plan.  The Company 
shall make no modifications in the Plan, or its manufacturing processes at the Facility that 
would materially compromise the Company’s ability to meet the ADLs without first 
notifying the City and obtaining its prior written consent thereto, which consent shall not 



 

Page 3 of 17 

be unreasonably withheld.  In addition, the Company shall not undertake to manufacture 
anything at the Facility that would materially impact the quality or quantity of waste 
production or constituents not specifically indicated within the ADLs other than those 
manufactured on the Effective Date unless the Company first notifies the City and obtains 
prior written consent thereto from the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  The Company shall reimburse the City within 30 days of receipt of an invoice 
from the City, all reasonable costs incurred by the City for review and consideration of 
consent with respect to any above described proposed modification in the Plan, 
manufacturing process, or product. 

 
2.2 Plans.  Prior to constructing, operating, or substantially changing the Facility, the Company 

shall obtain all governmental approvals required by law.  The Company shall make no 
modifications to the Plan, or any aspect of its pretreatment system, without first providing 
the City with a complete description of the proposed modifications and obtaining written 
approval from the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

 
2.3 Maintenance.  All Facility equipment and operations which have an impact on the 

wastewater discharges to the public sewerage system or on the City’s ability to monitor the 
same, including but not limited to pretreatment and sampling facilities described in the 
Plan, shall be properly maintained by the Company at all times and operated solely by 
competent personnel trained for that purpose. The flow recording instrumentation and the 
sampling equipment shall be maintained in good order and repair; and shall be calibrated 
at least twice per calendar year, with at least a five (5) month interval between each 
calibration.  The Company shall provide to City the results of any such calibration.  In the 
event any of the foregoing instruments become damaged or cease to function, the Company 
shall immediately notify the City and provide for the prompt repair or replacement thereof.  
If the Company fails to repair or maintain all equipment  in accordance with the Plan within 
thirty (30) days of demand from the City, the City may enter upon the Company’s property,  
perform such maintenance and invoice all costs to the Company.  The Company hereby 
irrevocably consents to such access by the City and agrees to pay all costs incurred by the 
City in undertaking such work; including but not limited to all professional and reasonable 
attorney fees.   

 
2.4 Authorized Representative.  The Company shall at all times have a designated authorized 

representative with whom the operator of the WWTP may coordinate operations. The name 
of the representative shall be submitted to the City’s Utility Superintendent. 

 
2.5 No Discharge.  No discharges of Company industrial wastewaters shall be made at any 

time when the pretreatment facilities are not operational and meet the above requirements. 
In the event that the Company experiences operating difficulties and is either experiencing 
or anticipates a discharge that is not in compliance with the limitations contained in this 
Agreement, the Company shall immediately advise the City’s WWTP staff so that 
appropriate action to protect the WWTP can be made. The Company shall in any case be 
responsible for such costs or labor expenses incurred or damage sustained by the City in 
handling such discharge, in addition to other charges under this Agreement. 

 



 

Page 4 of 17 

2.6 Building Sewer.  The sanitary sewer pipe (the “Sewer Pipe”) connected to the Facility and 
conveying the industrial wastewater discharges therefrom, to its point of connection to the 
City’s sewer main shall be owned, maintained, and operated by the Company; and the City 
shall have no responsibility therefor.  The Sewer Pipe shall be deemed a building sewer for 
purposes of the City’s Ordinances.  There shall be no point of discharge to the City 
sewerage system from the Facility other than through the Sewer Pipe. 

 
ARTICLE III 

 
CHARGES, BILLINGS, AND PAYMENT 

 
3.1 Payment Basis. It is understood and agreed that the consideration for the payments made 

by the Company under this Agreement is the City’s commitment to treat the Company’s 
industrial discharges pursuant to the ADLs. The charges for collection service and 
wastewater treatment shall consist of permit fees, user fees, surcharges, cost re-
imbursement, and the other charges provided for herein. 
 

3.2 Application Fees. Upon any construction or modification of the Facility’s pretreatment 
facilities, the Company shall pay all fees set forth in the then current City Utility fee 
schedule.  The fees shall be paid at the time of application.  The fee amount is subject to 
change from time to time. 
 

3.3 Sewer Service Charges. In accordance with applicable City ordinances, the Company shall 
pay sewer services charges.  The costs imposed in such ordinances reasonably and fairly 
represent the estimated and actual operating, maintenance, and other costs necessary to 
operate the City’s sewerage system and to treat the waste loadings of the wastewaters 
discharged to the WWTP; debt service for capital improvements to the City’s sewerage 
system; replacement/depreciation charges; and any other reasonable cost or expense 
associated with the sewer system, all as calculated by the auditors or engineers retained by 
the City, and approved by the City. The City reserves the right to modify said sewer service 
charges from time to time to more accurately reflect such costs. The sewer service charges 
presently charged to the Company consist of the elements as described below: 

 
(i) A basic service charge to recover certain customer related expenses and City 

administration costs; and 
 

(ii) A volume (flow) user fee, equal to the product of the volume unit cost in dollars, 
per one thousand (1,000) gallons, times the discharge flow rate with the same 
volume units. The flow rate shall be as measured at the Company’s discharge 
monitoring station in accordance with the monitoring requirements described in 
Article IV; and 

 
(iii) A wastewater loading sewer services charge to reflect the discharge strength 

(concentration of monitored pollutants). The sewer services charges shall be based 
upon pollutant concentrations, as determined by the City’s sewer use ordinance, as 
monitored at the Company’s sampling station in accordance with the monitoring 



 

Page 5 of 17 

requirements contained herein. The resulting pollutant concentrations shall be 
converted to a mass loading based on the measured discharge flow. The sewer 
services charges for each pollutant shall be the result of the multiplication of each 
pollutant’s unit cost (dollars per pound) times the pounds of each pollutant 
discharged.  A copy of the City’s current sewer service charges is attached hereto 
and marked as Exhibit C.  

 
(iv) The City will undertake a new cost of service study (“COSS”) whenever the City 

has a reasonable basis to believe, in its discretion, that modifications to the number 
of users, or volume or quantity of waste discharges will have an impact on user 
rates. 

 
3.35 Intentionally left blank.   
 
3.36 Intentionally left blank.   
 
3.37 Future Company Capacity.  In the event the Company requires wastewater treatment 

greater than the Company’s capacity in the future it may request such service from the City 
(the “Future Company Capacity”).  The City may provide such additional treatment 
service if, in its sole determination; it has the capacity to do so, may do so without 
negatively impacting the WWTP, and remain compliant with all applicable laws, 
regulations and permit requirements.   

 
3.4 Penalty Charges. In addition to the sewer service charges set forth in Section 3.3 hereof, 

the City will assess a Penalty Charge against the Company for ADL exceedances as set 
forth in this Section 3.4.  For purposes of this Section 3.4, exceedances shall be deemed to 
have occurred upon the happening of any of the following events:  (i) the discharges are 
the proximate cause of a violation of the City’s WPDES Permit, or (ii) the exceedance of 
the particular pollutant occurs in excess of the aggregate limits set forth in Exhibit A.   

 
(A) Penalty Charges for exceeding the Maximum Daily Limits (the “Maximum Daily 

ADLs”) shall be calculated by multiplying the normal sewer service charge unit cost 
for each unit of exceedances (i.e. each unit of flow, BOD, SS, NH4, or Phosphorous 
parameter) that is over the limitations set forth in Exhibit A by the following factors: 
 

(i) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by up to 20% the Penalty 
Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 150% for each unit of 
exceedance. 

 
(ii) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by 21 to 40% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 175% for each unit of 
exceedance. 

 
(iii) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by 41 to 60% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 200% for each unit of 
exceedance. 



 

Page 6 of 17 

 
(iv) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by over 61% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost for each unit of exceedance 
by 200% for the first event per calendar month; by 300% for the second event per 
calendar month; and by 400% if there are more than two events in any one calendar 
month. 

 
(B) No Penalty Charge shall be imposed for any exceedance of the Average ADL.  In the 

event any daily discharge (as determined in (i) and (ii) below) from the Facility exceeds 
any such Average ADL stated in Exhibit A by more than 10% on forty (40) or more 
calendar days in any consecutive twelve (12) month period (the “Triggering Event”), 
the parties shall first meet to discuss the cause of such exceedance and the remedying 
thereof.  Only one such meeting is required in any twelve (12) month period, which 
meeting is a condition precedent to any termination of this Agreement pursuant to 
Section 5.3 below.  For purposes of this Section 3.4, the following shall apply: 

 
(i) Because “flow” is to be continuously monitored pursuant to Section 4.1, flow will 

be the average flow, based on the recorded flows for each of the thirty (30) days in 
question. 

 
(ii) Any exceedances of the limitations of the Average ADL shall be determined (i) for 

any “Test Day”, based on the actual results of the testing for the pollutants, which 
testing shall be done pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof; and (ii) for any “Non-Test 
Day”, based on the weighted average of the test results for all Test Days conducted 
over any consecutive thirty (30) day period of time (the “Reporting Period”).  A 
“Test Day” is any day in the Reporting Period where the City conducts a test for 
pollutants pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof; and a “Non-Test Day” is any other day in 
said period.  

 
(iii) The BOD, SS, NH4, and Phosphorus values set forth in Exhibit A shall be 

determined by the City in the following manner: 
 

(a) For each Test Day, the actual concentration results of the test for each 
pollutant and actual measured flows for that day will be used to calculate 
the pounds (a constant of 8.34 is used in the calculation) for each such Test 
Day during the Reporting Period.   

 
(b) For each Non-Test Day, the weighted average concentration for each 

pollutant and the actual measured flow for that day will be used to 
calculate the pounds of each pollutant. The pounds for Non-Test Days will 
be calculated by the following method:  

  
(1) Sum the total pounds of the pollutant discharged on each Test Day 

during the preceding twenty-nine (29) calendar days; divide this 
value by the sum of  total measured discharge flow (MGD) for each 
of the same days; divide this quotient by 8.34 to obtain a 



 

Page 7 of 17 

concentration for the Non-Test Day (which is always the 30th day of 
the Reporting Period). 

 
(2) The calculated concentration as calculated in b.(1) above for that 

Non-Test Day will then be multiplied by the actual flow (MGD) for 
that Non-Test Day multiplied by 8.34 to obtain the pounds of that 
pollutant for that Non-Test Day. 

 
 If the parties meet after the occurrence of a Triggering Event to discuss any failure 

to satisfy the Average ADL, but fail to agree to a solution to remedy such failure, 
then in such event, a failure of the parties to agree on a modification pursuant to a 
meeting under this Section 3.4(B) is not intended to trigger the dispute mechanism 
set forth in Section 7.7.  Rather, each Average ADL exceedance comprising the 
Triggering Event shall constitute a material violation of this Agreement for 
purposes of Section 5.3 below. 

 
(C) For pH violations, if continuous monitoring at the Facility demonstrates that the 

influent pH did not exceed the levels set forth in Exhibit A(4) for a period of greater 
than fifteen (15) total minutes during the day, the flat rate Penalty Charge will be $200 
per day. However, if this pH value of 10.0 at the Facility was exceeded for a period of 
time greater than fifteen (15) total minutes over the course of the day than the Penalty 
Charge amount will be $500 per day. 

  
(D) For fats, oil and grease violations of the City’s sewer ordinance the Penalty Charge 

will be $200 per day. 
 

(E)  The ADLs have been established for industrial users in order to provide a margin of 
safety for the Company relative to its industrial wastewater discharges from the Facility 
and to preserve capacities in the WWTP for users of the City’s sewerage system.  In 
order to deter exceedances of the ADLs, Penalty Charges as provided for in Section 3.4 
are intended to be in addition to the sewer service charges as provided for in Section 
3.3 above.  
 

3.5 Billing. Bills will be prepared monthly by the City, based on the actual monitoring data 
from the Company’s sampling station. Bills are payable within twenty (20) days of receipt. 
When, due to equipment malfunction, actual flow, BOD, SS and Phosphorus data is not 
available, charges shall be based on the average for the most recent month such data is 
available.  If adjustments are to be made to prior billing quantities due to errors or 
omissions they will be made on subsequent billing totals. 

 
3.6 Connection Fee and Impact Fees.  For all new connections, prior to any industrial 

wastewaters being discharged from the Facility into the WWTP, the Company shall pay a 
“Connection Fee” and “Impact Fee” as set forth in City ordinances.   

 
3.7 Intentionally left blank.   

 



 

Page 8 of 17 

3.8 Intentionally left blank.  
 
3.9 Liens.  Any charges payable to the City under this Agreement, including but not limited to 

the maintenance and repair costs pursuant to Section 2.3 which are not paid when due shall 
constitute a lien upon the premises served, as provided in section 66.0821(4)(d) of the 
Wisconsin Statutes, as amended or renumbered from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

MONITORING 
 

4.1 Frequency.  The Company shall maintain  and operate all monitoring and sampling 
equipment described in Article II of this Agreement to comply with the following schedule: 

 
Parameter Sample Frequency Type of Sample 

Flow Daily Continuous 
BOD Daily 24-hr Composite 
Suspended Solids Daily 24-hr Composite 
Total Phosphorus Daily 24-hr Composite 
pH Daily 24-hr Composite 

 
 
4.2 City Sampling and Testing.  The parties acknowledge that at the present time, the City is 

not required to develop or maintain a pretreatment plan to conform to applicable 
regulations.  The City may in the future, however, implement such a plan and enact 
implementing ordinances, which may impact the extent to which Company and other users 
of the WWTP must pay for sampling or testing.  Except as otherwise provided for in City 
ordinances enacted pursuant to the implementation of a pretreatment plan, the City, at is 
sole cost, shall collect samples and conduct the requisite testing for BOD, suspended solids, 
phosphorus, ammonia and pH. Testing results will be provided to the Company as soon as 
practicable following the availability of the results.  Continuous flow data will be collected 
periodically by the City from the SCADA system.  Samples obtained under Section 4.1 or 
4.2 hereof, shall be tested by the City at a frequency equal to the greater of:  (i) at least 
three (3) days per calendar week or (ii) the number of test days as established in the City’s 
WPDES Permit for testing the effluent discharges from the WWTP. 

 
4.3 Split Samples.  Upon request, split samples will be prepared for the Company for 

verification of testing results by an independent laboratory. All fees for independent lab 
testing shall be the responsibility of the Company. If split sample testing demonstrates 
significant discrepancies in testing results, a meeting between the Company and the City 
will be held to discuss the discrepancies and to determine if any adjustments will be 
required to the monthly billing invoice. The Company must present appropriate 
information regarding the discrepancies within fourteen (14) days of receipt of split 
sampling results and the subsequent meeting is to be held within thirty (30) days of 
Company’s receipt of split sampling results. If resolution cannot be reached regarding 



 

Page 9 of 17 

necessary adjustments, the parties shall resolve the matter as provided for in Section 7.7 
below. 

 
4.4 Other Means.  At all times during the period in which the Company is discharging to the 

public sewerage system, the City shall, at its sole cost, have the right to monitor the 
discharge stream by whatever method and for whatever period it shall deem necessary. The 
City monitoring activities shall not unreasonably interfere with any lawful operations of 
the Company. 

 
4.5 Company Sampling and Testing.  In the event the Company performs any sampling or 

monitoring of any discharge from the Facility to the WWTP it shall promptly notify the 
City of such activity and provide copies of all results of such activity to the City promptly 
upon receipt of them itself, without charge to the City.  

 
ARTICLE V 

 
VIOLATIONS 

 
5.1 Forfeiture.  Material violations of any conditions of this Agreement (other than violations 

for failure to pay sewer service charges, application fees or Penalty Charges), shall result 
in forfeiture by the Company of $500 per day. Each violation shall be considered a separate 
violation and continuing violations shall accrue on a daily basis. Notice of violation shall 
be provided by the City as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of the 
violation, unless a different time is provided for in City ordinances.  If the City knows or 
reasonably should have known of a violation but fails to provide notice to the Company 
within ten (10) days of the violation or as otherwise specified under City ordinances, the 
City shall not recover more than $5,000.00 in forfeitures due to such violations for the 
period of time prior to the notice. Forfeitures may be reduced and/or waived by the City, 
in its sole discretion, when it considers it is in the public interest to do so and in response 
to corrective measures to be taken to resolve the problem(s) leading to the violations(s). 
Appeals from any forfeiture shall be made in writing to the City Clerk within thirty (30) 
days of the aforesaid notice of violation.  Failure to pay sewer service charges, application 
fees, Penalty Charges and forfeiture amounts are subject to the provisions of Section 7.6 
below.  In the event the City commences legal action to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement, and substantially prevails in such action, the Company shall pay to the City all 
costs incurred by the City in such action, including reasonable attorney fees. 

 
5.2 Suspension of Service. In the case of emergency, where a continued discharge of industrial 

wastewaters from the Facility poses a clear and present threat to life, limb or property, or 
in the case where discharges from the Facility would likely have the effect of causing a 
violation of the City’s WPDES Permit, any of which shall be in the sole determination of 
the City, the City may immediately suspend the Company’s right to discharge industrial 
wastewaters to the WWTP.  Discharge may be resumed only at such time as the underlying 
situation that gave rise to the emergency or condition has been corrected to the City’s 
satisfaction. The decision to suspend service may be appealed to the City Council; but such 
appeal shall not stay the suspension. 



 

Page 10 of 17 

 
5.3 Termination of the Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, 

in the event that the Company should cause (i) a Triggering Event to occur under Section 
3.4(B) hereof, or (ii) commit a material violation of any other provision of this Agreement 
more than ten (10) times within any twelve (12) consecutive month period, the City may, 
in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement, in its entirety; and the Company shall cease 
all discharges of industrial wastewaters into the public sewerage system upon such 
termination.  Termination under this Section 5.3 shall be effective upon thirty (30) days 
notice to the Company.  For purposes of this Section 5.3, a material violation of this 
Agreement shall be deemed to have occurred when the City has given notice of such 
violation(s) as provided for in Section 5.1 above and the Company shall have failed to cure 
such violation within the time frame specified therein; and if no time frame is so specified, 
within thirty (30) days thereafter; except that with respect to violations of Section 3.4(B) 
hereof, only one notice of violation shall be given, which notice shall follow the meeting 
referred to therein. 

 
ARTICLE VI 

 
TERM 

 
6.1 Term of Renewal.  This Agreement shall be in effect upon the Effective Date, and shall 

expire on March 31, 2025.  Thereafter, the term hereof shall automatically renew thereafter 
for a term that corresponds to the term of the WPDES Permit issued by the DNR to the 
City relative to the WWTP.  Such renewal shall be deemed to be automatic and upon the 
same terms and conditions contained herein, unless either party provides the other with 
written notification of intent not to renew at least three (3) years prior to the expiration of 
the initial term or any renewal terms, as the case may be.   

 
6.2 Modification of WPDES Permit.  If during the term of this Agreement, the DNR 

determines to modify or change in any way the City’s WPDES Permit for the WWTP, the 
parties agree to negotiate in good faith for any necessary changes to this Agreement.  If 
agreement is not reached, the Agreement shall terminate at the earlier of three (3) years 
from the date the parties terminate the negotiations or when the changes in the WPDES 
Permit that precipitated the negotiations become effective.  This Section 6.2 shall not limit 
the City’s ability to add ADL’s as specified in Section 5 of Exhibit A. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
7.1 Compliance.  The Company shall comply with Chapter 340 of the City Code, except to the 

extent this Agreement permits otherwise.  In the case of a conflict between the City Code 
and this Agreement, then the Agreement shall be the regulating document.  In the absence 
of a conflict, the City Code and this Agreement are both regulating documents. 

 



 

Page 11 of 17 

7.2 Notice.  Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be 
sufficient if in writing and if sent by certified mail to the City or to the Company at the 
following address: 

 
CITY: City of Waterloo 
 Attn:  City Clerk’s Office 
 135 North Monroe Street 
 Waterloo, WI 53594 
 
COMPANY: Ab E Manufacturing, LLC 
 Attn:  President 
 700 Commercial Avenue 
 Waterloo, WI  53594 
   

7.3 Waiver.  The waiver by the City of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by the 
Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof. 
The waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by the City 
shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof. 

 
7.4 Amendment.  This Agreement shall be modified or amended only in writing, which must 

be duly executed by both the City and the Company. It may not be amended or modified 
by oral agreements or understandings between the parties unless the same is reduced to 
writing and so executed. 

 
7.5 Effect.  This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements between the parties and 

relating to the subject matter hereof. 
 
7.6 Collection.  In the event that the Company fails to make any payment of undisputed sewer 

service charges, fees or other charges hereunder when due, the same shall bear interest at 
the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per calendar month from due date until paid.  
In the event that the City is required to take any action for purposes of enforcing the terms 
and provisions of this Agreement or collecting any amounts due and owing from the 
Company, then in such event, it shall be entitled to recover from the Company, all 
reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing, including but not 
limited to reasonable attorney’s fees.  Any failures to pay any undisputed amounts due 
hereunder shall result in the same being considered a delinquent sewer service charge and 
collectable in the manner provided for by law.  Any dispute as to the foregoing fees and 
charges shall be initiated by the Company and resolved pursuant to the provisions of 
section 66.0821(5), Wis. Stats.  The Company shall pay to the City all such disputed 
amounts, as and when due, pending any appeal take pursuant to the aforesaid statute.  In 
the event it is determined that the City has improperly charged the Company, the City shall 
return to the Company such improper charges, together with interest thereon at the legal 
rate. 

 
7.7 Dispute Resolution.  The parties agree to act in good faith and attempt to resolve disputes, 

first, through negotiation and non-bding mediation and, if negotiations and mediation are 



 

Page 12 of 17 

unsuccessful, then either party may pursue any other remedies available at law or in equity; 
including but not limited to a complaint to the Wisconsin Public Service Comission in 
accordance with section 66.0821(5) of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

 
7.8 In the event any acts or omissions of the Company in the performance of this Agreement 

results in any charge, fine, forfeiture, or enforcement action against the City by the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, or any other governmental authority with 
jurisdiction, the Company shall reimburse the City 110% of  all resulting costs incurred by 
the City, including reasonable attorney fees. 

 
7.9 Intentionally left blank.   
 
7.10 Legal Relationship.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create an 

employer/employee relationship, a joint venture relationship or a principal/agent 
relationship. 

 
7.11 Force Majeure.  No Party will be considered in breach or default of its obligations in the 

event of delay in the performance of such obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond 
its control and without its fault or negligence (each such event, a “Force Majeure Event”).  
Force Majeure Events shall include, without limitation, natural disasters, acts of the public 
enemy, agents of the federal government, fires, floods, epidemics, pandemics, quarantine 
restrictions and unusually severe weather, it being the purpose and intent of this provision 
that in the event of the occurrence of any such delay the time or times of performance of 
any of the obligations of the party will be extended for the period of the delay as determined 
by the other party, provided that the party seeking the benefit of the delay will have first 
notified the other party thereof of the cause or causes thereof and requested an extension 
of the period of the delay. The provisions of this Section shall not limit or restrict the rights 
of the City pursuant to Section 5.2 above. 

 
7.12 Governing Law and Jurisdiction.  This Agreement will be construed and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of Wisconsin, without regard to the conflict of laws principles 
that would result in the application of any law of any other jurisdiction. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 
written above, at Waterloo, Wisconsin. 
 
 
AB E MANUFACTURING, LLC 
 
 

By:            
        Date 
              (Name) 
 
              (Title) 

 

August 10 2022

Eric Salm

President & COO



 

Page 13 of 17 

CITY OF WATERLOO 
 
 

By:            
             Jenifer Quimby, Mayor     Date 
 
 

Attest:            
                       Jeanne Ritter, City Clerk    Date 



 

Page 14 of 17 

AB E EXHIBIT A 
AGREED DISCHARGE LIMITS 

 
(1) Average ADL. Average daily value for any consecutive thirty (30) day period: 

 
Flow            9,900   gallons per day  
BOD          428      pounds per day 

 SS         216      pounds per day 
 NH4         11        pounds per day 
 Phosphorus         10        pounds per day 

 
(2) Maximum Daily ADL. Maximum daily value computed as the peak for any 24-

hour period: 
 

Flow        12,375   gallons per day 
BOD        535        pounds per day 
SS        270        pounds per day 
NH4       14          pounds per day 
Phosphorus       13               pounds per day 
 

(3) Fats, Oil, and Grease ADL. Concentrates of oil and grease shall not exceed the 
limits set forth in the City’s Ordinances, as amended from time to time, for any 
composite sample over a 24-hour period; and no visual signs of floating or 
coagulated grease are authorized. 

 
(4) pH Range ADL. The permitted range for pH shall be 6 to 9 for any 24-hour 

composite sample. If the Company provides continuous pH monitoring of the 
discharges, the pH range can be from 5.5 to 9.5. The City reserves the right to adjust 
the permitted pH range with 30-days notice if high or low pH values in the incoming 
wastewater at the City’s facility are causing problems with the treatment process.  
 

(5) Nitrogen  ADL. The City and the Company recognize that excessive or deficient 
nitrogen concentration in the form of ammonia, organic nitrogen, and other 
compounds containing nitrogen may have negative impacts on the operation of the 
WWTP.  At this time there are no limits that will be designated for ammonia or 
total nitrogen, however, the City reserves the right to require such limits if adding 
them becomes necessary, in the sole determination of the City, for the City to meet 
the requirements of the City’s WPDES permit. 

  



 

Page 15 of 17 

EXHIBIT B 
PRETREATMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 
(1) Minimum Requirements.  The pretreatment facilities described in the Plan shall, at 

a minimum, include the following capabilities: 
 

 Grease, oil, sand, and grit trapping and/or sedimentation facilities as required in 
the reasonable determination of the City based on the discharge constituents; 

 pH sensing with chemical feed adjustment, at the request of the City and upon 
reasonable notice, if (i) the Company exceeds the pH limits set forth in Section 
1.2 more than four (4) times in any consecutive twelve (12) month period; or (ii) 
the City observes that the discharges into the public sewer system are causing 
damage or injury to the public sewers conveying the wastewaters or are having a 
detrimental effect upon the operations of the downstream lift station after and/or 
the treatment plant of the City.  The City agrees that before making the aforesaid 
request, it shall first meet with the Company to review the circumstances 
described in (i) or (ii) above; 

 Pre-treat the industrial wastewaters so that the wastewater effluent discharged 
into the WWTP does not exceed the applicable ADLs; and all other pollutants 
shall not exceed the limitations established in the City’s Ordinances applicable to 
normal domestic strength wastewater; 

 Flow equalization as required to limit the maximum discharge rate to 200% of 
the Maximum Daily ADL as provided for in Exhibit A to be implemented no later 
than December 31, 2023, and maintained thereafter.  Slug discharges and 
dumping are specifically prohibited; and 

 Adequate storage capacity to totally contain a potentially toxic discharge of 
industrial waste; or to prevent a chemical spill or similar discharge from entering 
the City system without proper pretreatment. 

 
(2) Sampling Station.  A sampling station either has been, or shall be, constructed and 

maintained by the Company that meets the requirements set forth in Article 2 of 
this Agreement, and that includes the following: 

 
 All process waste will be discharged to an effluent equalization basin where the 

effluent pump will pump the waste through a magnetic flow meter which will 
discharge to an approved discharge location.  The refrigerated composite sampler 
shall sample flow/time proportional samples from the discharge line.  It may 
exclude wastewater discharge from bathrooms and showers. 

 Company shall have a data logger and will make the information stored on the 
data logger available to the City upon request as provided in the next sentence. 

 The sampler, flow meter and data logger must be accessible at all times by the 
City, subject to an obligation of City personnel accessing same to comply with 
all applicable state and federal food safety laws. 

 Sampling is required for every operating day at the Facility unless less frequent 
sampling is agreed to in writing by the Parties. 



 

Page 16 of 17 

 Testing will be performed for every discharge day, or other schedule agreed to in 
writing by the Parties.  Samples shall be taken at the required frequency even if 
testing is not performed. 

 The pretreatment system at the Facility shall be accessible at all times to the City 
upon reasonable notice to Company for purposes of determining Company’s 
compliance with this Agreement, subject to anobligation of City personnel 
accessing same to comply with all applicable state and federal food safety laws.   

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

Page 17 of 17 

EXHIBIT C 
CURRENT SEWER SERVICE CHARGES 

 
Sewer Rates are approved by the City of Waterloo Common Council. 

 
 Rates Effective Jan 1, 

2022 
Category A Service Charge (Residential)  
     Fixed Monthly Charge See Table 1 
     Volume Charge per 1,000 Gallons 13.00 
Category B Service Charge (Industrial)  
     Fixed Monthly Charge See Table 1 
     Volume Charge per 1,000 Gallons 13.00 
     BOD Charge per Pound >250 mg/L 0.66 
     Suspended Solids Charge per Pound>250 mg/L 0.33 
     Nitrogen Charge per Pound Included in Volume 

Charge 
     Phosphorus Charge per Pound >7 mg/L 27.02 
 
Portland Sanitary District Sewer 

 

     Fixed Monthly Charge 4” Meter 335.79 
     Volume Charge per 1,000 Gallons 13.00 

 
 
Table 1: Monthly Fixed Charge 
Water Meter Size   
5/8”, 3/4” 15.00 
1” 35.05 
1 1/4" 51.09 
1 1/2" 68.46 
2” 108.56 
3” 202.13 
4” 335.79 
6” 669.95 

 
 



Page 1 of 17 

AGREEMENT FOR WASTEWATER TREATMENT SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF WATERLOO, WISCONSIN 

AND VAN HOLTEN’S, INC. 

 

 

 Agreement (the “Agreement”) made this ___ day of     , 2022 

(the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Waterloo, a municipal corporation (the “City”) 

and Van Holten’s, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation (the “Company”). 

 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

 

 WHEREAS, the Company owns and operates a pickle production facility located at 703 

West Madison Street, Waterloo, Wisconsin (the “Facility”), which generates industrial 

wastewaters; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a sanitary sewerage system, consisting of a 

collection/transmission system and a wastewater treatment facility; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City operates its sanitary sewerage system in accordance with a WPDES 

permit (the “WPDES Permit”) issued by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 

(“DNR”) which permit establishes a number of requirements concerning the treatment and 

disposal of wastewaters generated within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City is willing to accept the industrial wastewater discharges from the 

Facility into its sanitary sewerage system subject to certain specified conditions; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Company believe it to be in the best interests of both parties 

to enter into this Agreement. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained 

and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the City will accept and agrees to treat the Company’s industrial wastewaters, and 

the Company agrees to pay for such service under the following terms: 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

SERVICE 

 

1.1 City’s Control Over Sewerage System. The City has and shall retain control over the access 

of all users to its sanitary sewerage collection system and wastewater treatment plant 

(collectively “WWTP”).  Except as set forth herein, this Agreement is not intended to and 

shall not be construed as  granting the Company the right to use the City’s WWTP, except 

on the same basis as other  members of the general public. 

 

1.2 Agreed Discharge Limitations. It is agreed and understood that in return for the 

performance of the Company’s obligations contained herein and for the payments to be 



Page 2 of 17 

made by the Company under this Agreement, the City will accept and treat the Company’s 

industrial wastewater discharges from the Facility, subject to the limits described in Exhibit 

A.  From the Effective Date through December 31, 2024, Customer shall be a Category B 

user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s code of ordinances.  Said discharges must 

be normal domestic strength wastewater meeting the requirements for a Category A user 

as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s code of ordinances by January 1, 2025 (the 

“Implementation Deadline”), subject to the limitations specified in Exhibit A hereto (the 

“Agreed Discharge Limitations” or “ADLs”)  Notwithstanding the prior sentence the 

Company may discharge chloride as specified in Exhibit A. 

 

1.3 Points of Discharge and Monitoring. All industrial wastewater discharges shall be 

discharged to the City’s public sewer system at a single location, approved by the City, and 

shall be subject to the monitoring and pretreatment requirements set forth herein.  

 

1.4 Prohibitions on Discharges. No discharge of storm water, groundwater, surface drainage 

or uncontaminated cooling water shall be made to the City’s WWTP.  All wastewater 

discharges shall be strictly in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations; 

including but not limited to the City’s code of ordinances and sewer use ordinance, subject 

to Section 7.1 herein.  

 

1.5 ADL Exceedances. The City shall assess a Penalty Charge (as provided for in Section 3.4 

below) against the Company for each event in which the Company’s industrial wastewater 

discharges to the City exceeds one or more of the following conditions commencing upon 

the Effective Date until the Implementation Deadline:  

 

(i) The daily discharge for flow, BOD, or SS for any 24-hour period exceeds the 

Maximum Daily ADL for that parameter;  

 

(ii) The daily discharge has a pH value outside the permitted range;  

 

(iii) The daily discharge is in violation of the City’s code of ordinances or sewer use 

ordinance, subject to Section 7.1 herein; or  

 

(iv) The discharge of chlorides above the ADLs outlined in Exhibit A. 

 

After the Implementation Deadline, the City shall assess a Penalty Charge (as provided in 

Section 3.4(F) below) against the Company for each event in which the Company’s 

industrial wastewater discharges to the City exceeds normal domestic strength wastewater 

meeting the requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s 

code of ordinances.   

 

1.6 Walk-Through.  Upon reasonable notice to the Company, the City and/or its engineers may 

perform periodic inspections of the pretreatment process and discharge of industrial 

wastewaters at the Facility, for purposes of determining compliance with this Agreement.  

Refusal to permit any such inspection upon reasonable request shall constitute a material 

breach of this Agreement. 



Page 3 of 17 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

INDUSTRIAL PRETREATMENT 

 

2.1 Pretreatment and Sampling Station.  The Company shall build and maintain a pretreatment 

process at the Facility as is necessary to ensure the wastewater discharges from the Facility 

meet the ADLs.  The pretreatment process at the Facility is more particularly described in 

Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Plan”).  The Company shall 

construct and maintain the sampling station in accordance with the Plan.  The Company 

shall make no modifications in the Plan, or its manufacturing processes at the Facility that 

would materially compromise the Company’s ability to meet the ADLs without first 

notifying the City and obtaining its prior written consent thereto, which consent shall not 

be unreasonably withheld.  In addition, the Company shall not undertake to manufacture 

anything at the Facility that would materially impact the quality or quantity of waste 

production or constituents not specifically indicated within the ADLs other than those 

manufactured on the Effective Date unless the Company first notifies the City and obtains 

prior written consent thereto from the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  The Company shall reimburse the City within 30 days of receipt of an invoice 

from the City, all reasonable costs incurred by the City for review and consideration of 

consent with respect to any above described proposed modification in the Plan, 

manufacturing process, or product. 

 

2.2 Plans.  Prior to constructing, operating, or substantially changing the Facility, the Company 

shall obtain all governmental approvals required by law.  The Company shall make no 

modifications to the Plan, or any aspect of its pretreatment system, without first providing 

the City with a complete description of the proposed modifications and obtaining written 

approval from the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

 

2.3 Maintenance.  All Facility equipment and operations which have an impact on the 

wastewater discharges to the public sewerage system or on the City’s ability to monitor the 

same, including but not limited to pretreatment and sampling facilities described in the 

Plan, shall be properly maintained by the Company at all times and operated solely by 

competent personnel trained for that purpose. The flow recording instrumentation and the 

sampling equipment shall be maintained in good order and repair; and shall be calibrated 

at least twice per calendar year, with at least a five (5) month interval between each 

calibration.  The Company shall provide to City the results of any such calibration.  In the 

event any of the foregoing instruments become damaged or cease to function, the Company 

shall immediately notify the City and provide for the prompt repair or replacement thereof.  

If the Company fails to repair or maintain all equipment  in accordance with the Plan within 

thirty (30) days of demand from the City, the City may enter upon the Company’s property,  

perform such maintenance and invoice all costs to the Company.  The Company hereby 

irrevocably consents to such access by the City and agrees to pay all costs incurred by the 

City in undertaking such work; including but not limited to all professional and reasonable 

attorney fees.   

 



Page 4 of 17 

2.4 Authorized Representative.  The Company shall at all times have a designated authorized 

representative with whom the operator of the WWTP may coordinate operations. The name 

of the representative shall be submitted to the City’s Utility Superintendent. 

 

2.5 No Discharge.  After the Implementation Deadline, no discharges of Company industrial 

wastewaters shall be made at any time when the pretreatment facilities are not operational 

and meet the above requirements. In the event that the Company experiences operating 

difficulties and is either experiencing or anticipates a discharge that is not in compliance 

with the limitations contained in this Agreement, the Company shall immediately advise 

the City’s WWTP staff so that appropriate action to protect the WWTP can be made. The 

Company shall in any case be responsible for such costs or labor expenses incurred or 

damage sustained by the City in handling such discharge, in addition to other charges under 

this Agreement. 

 

2.6 Pre-Implementation Deadline Pretreatment.  Between the Effective Date and the 

Implementation Deadline, Company shall properly maintain and competently operate all 

Company pretreatment equipment existing as of the Effective Date. 

 

2.7 Building Sewer.  The sanitary sewer pipe (the “Sewer Pipe”) connected to the Facility and 

conveying the industrial wastewater discharges therefrom, to its point of connection to the 

City’s sewer main shall be owned, maintained, and operated by the Company; and the City 

shall have no responsibility therefor.  The Sewer Pipe shall be deemed a building sewer for 

purposes of the City’s Ordinances.  There shall be no point of discharge to the City 

sewerage system from the Facility other than through the Sewer Pipe. 

 

ARTICLE III 

 

CHARGES, BILLINGS, AND PAYMENT 

 

3.1 Payment Basis. It is understood and agreed that the consideration for the payments made 

by the Company under this Agreement is the City’s commitment to treat the Company’s 

industrial discharges pursuant to the ADLs. The charges for collection service and 

wastewater treatment shall consist of permit fees, user fees, surcharges, cost re-

imbursement, and the other charges provided for herein. 

 

3.2 Application Fees. Upon any construction or modification of the Facility’s pretreatment 

facilities, the Company shall pay all fees set forth in the then current City Utility fee 

schedule.  The fees shall be paid at the time of application.  The fee amount is subject to 

change from time to time. 

 

3.3 Sewer Service Charges. In accordance with applicable City ordinances, the Company shall 

pay sewer services charges.  The costs imposed in such ordinances reasonably and fairly 

represent the estimated and actual operating, maintenance, and other costs necessary to 

operate the City’s sewerage system and to treat the waste loadings of the wastewaters 

discharged to the WWTP; debt service for capital improvements to the City’s sewerage 

system; replacement/depreciation charges; and any other reasonable cost or expense 



Page 5 of 17 

associated with the sewer system, all as calculated by the auditors or engineers retained by 

the City, and approved by the City. The City reserves the right to modify said sewer service 

charges from time to time to more accurately reflect such costs. 

 

3.35 Intentionally left blank.   

 

3.36 Intentionally left blank.   

 

3.37 Future Company Capacity.  In the event the Company requires wastewater treatment 

greater than the Company’s capacity in the future it may request such service from the City 

(the “Future Company Capacity”).  The City may provide such additional treatment 

service if, in its sole determination; it has the capacity to do so, may do so without 

negatively impacting the WWTP, and remain compliant with all applicable laws, 

regulations and permit requirements.   

 

3.4 Penalty Charges. In addition to the sewer service charges set forth in Section 3.3 hereof, 

the City will assess a Penalty Charge against the Company for ADL exceedances as set 

forth in this Section 3.4.  For purposes of this Section 3.4, exceedances shall be deemed to 

have occurred upon the happening of any of the following events:  (i) the discharges are 

the proximate cause of a violation of the City’s WPDES Permit, or (ii) the exceedance of 

the particular pollutant occurs in excess of the aggregate limits set forth in Exhibit A.   

 

(A) From the Effective Date until the Implementation Deadline, Penalty Charges for 

exceeding the Maximum Daily Limits (the “Maximum Daily ADLs”) shall be 

calculated by multiplying the normal sewer service charge unit cost for each unit of 

exceedances (i.e. each unit of flow, BOD, SS, or NH4 parameter) that is over the 

limitations set forth in Exhibit A by the following factors: 

 

(i) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by up to 20% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 150% for each unit of 

exceedance. 

 

(ii) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by 21 to 40% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 175% for each unit of 

exceedance. 

 

(iii) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by 41 to 60% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost by 200% for each unit of 

exceedance. 

 

(iv) If the daily discharge exceeds the Maximum Daily ADL by over 61% the Penalty 

Charges shall be calculated by multiplying the unit cost for each unit of exceedance 

by 200% for the first event per calendar month; by 300% for the second event per 

calendar month; and by 400% if there are more than two events in any one calendar 

month. 

 



Page 6 of 17 

(B) From the Effective Date until the Implementation Deadline, no Penalty Charge shall be 

imposed for any exceedance of the Average ADL.  In the event any daily discharge (as 

determined in (i) and (ii) below) from the Facility exceeds any such Average ADL 

stated in Exhibit A by more than 10% on forty (40) or more calendar days in any 

consecutive twelve (12) month period (the “Triggering Event”), the parties shall first 

meet to discuss the cause of such exceedance and the remedying thereof.  Only one 

such meeting is required in any twelve (12) month period, which meeting is a condition 

precedent to any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3 below.  For 

purposes of this Section 3.4, the following shall apply: 

 

(i) Because “flow” is to be continuously monitored pursuant to Section 4.1, flow will 

be the average flow, based on the recorded flows for each of the thirty (30) days in 

question. 

 

(ii) Any exceedances of the limitations of the Average ADL shall be determined (i) for 

any “Test Day”, based on the actual results of the testing for the pollutants, which 

testing shall be done pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof; and (ii) for any “Non-Test 

Day”, based on the weighted average of the test results for all Test Days conducted 

over any consecutive thirty (30) day period of time (the “Reporting Period”).  A 

“Test Day” is any day in the Reporting Period where the City conducts a test for 

pollutants pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof; and a “Non-Test Day” is any other day in 

said period.  

 

(iii) The BOD, SS, and NH4 values set forth in Exhibit A shall be determined by the 

City in the following manner: 

 

(a) For each Test Day, the actual concentration results of the test for each 

pollutant and actual measured flows for that day will be used to calculate 

the pounds (a constant of 8.34 is used in the calculation) for each such Test 

Day during the Reporting Period.   

 

(b) For each Non-Test Day, the weighted average concentration for each 

pollutant and the actual measured flow for that day will be used to calculate 

the pounds of each pollutant. The pounds for Non-Test Days will be 

calculated by the following method:  

  

(1) Sum the total pounds of the pollutant discharged on each Test Day 

during the preceding twenty-nine (29) calendar days; divide this 

value by the sum of  total measured discharge flow (MGD) for each 

of the same days; divide this quotient by 8.34 to obtain a 

concentration for the Non-Test Day (which is always the 30th day of 

the Reporting Period). 

 

(2) The calculated concentration as calculated in b.(1) above for that 

Non-Test Day will then be multiplied by the actual flow (MGD) for 



Page 7 of 17 

that Non-Test Day multiplied by 8.34 to obtain the pounds of that 

pollutant for that Non-Test Day. 

 

 If the parties meet after the occurrence of a Triggering Event to discuss any failure 

to satisfy the Average ADL, but fail to agree to a solution to remedy such failure, 

then in such event, a failure of the parties to agree on a modification pursuant to a 

meeting under this Section 3.4(B) is not intended to trigger the dispute mechanism 

set forth in Section 7.7.  Rather, each Average ADL exceedance comprising the 

Triggering Event shall constitute a material violation of this Agreement for 

purposes of Section 5.3 below. 

 

(C) For pH violations, if continuous monitoring at the Facility demonstrates that the 

influent pH did not exceed the levels set forth in Exhibit A(4) for a period of greater 

than fifteen (15) total minutes during the day, the flat rate Penalty Charge will be $200 

per day. However, if this pH value of 10.0 at the Facility was exceeded for a period of 

time greater than fifteen (15) total minutes over the course of the day than the Penalty 

Charge amount will be $500 per day. 

  

(D) For fats, oil and grease violations of the City’s sewer ordinance the Penalty Charge 

will be $200 per day. 

 

(E) The ADLs have been established for industrial users in order to provide a margin of 

safety for the Company relative to its industrial wastewater discharges from the Facility 

and to preserve capacities in the WWTP for users of the City’s sewerage system.  In 

order to deter exceedances of the ADLs, Penalty Charges as provided for in Section 3.4 

are intended to be in addition to the sewer service charges as provided for in Section 

3.3 above.  

 

(F) Commencing upon the Implementation Deadline, for each day the Company’s 

industrial wastewater discharge exceeds normal domestic strength wastewater meeting 

the requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s code 

of ordinances, for any portion of the day, the Company shall pay to the City a Penalty 

Charge of $250 per day per parameter exceedance, which shall increase to $500 for a 

second exceedance of the same parameter within one month, and $1,000 for each 

exceedance of the same parameter thereafter in said month.  After the Implementation 

Deadline, a Triggering Event shall be defined as when the Facility exceeds any 

wastewater discharge parameter listed in the City’s code of ordinances, as measured 

pursuant to Section 4.1 below, twelve or more times per parameter exceedance, in any 

consecutive twelve (12) month period. In the event that the Company should cause a 

Triggering Event to occur, the parties shall first meet to discuss the cause of such 

exceedance and the remedying thereof.  Only one such meeting is required in any 

twelve (12) month period, which meeting is a condition precedent to any termination 

of this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3 below.   

 

3.5 Billing. Bills will be prepared monthly by the City, based on the actual monitoring data 

from the Company’s sampling station. Bills are payable within twenty (20) days of receipt. 



Page 8 of 17 

When, due to equipment malfunction, actual flow, BOD, SS and Phosphorus data is not 

available, charges shall be based on the average for the most recent month such data is 

available.  If adjustments are to be made to prior billing quantities due to errors or 

omissions they will be made on subsequent billing totals. 

 

3.6 Connection Fee and Impact Fees.  For all new connections, prior to any industrial 

wastewaters being discharged from the Facility into the WWTP, the Company shall pay a 

“Connection Fee” and “Impact Fee” as set forth in City ordinances.   

 

3.7 Intentionally left blank.   

 

3.8 Intentionally left blank.  

 

3.9 Liens.  Any charges payable to the City under this Agreement, including but not limited to 

the maintenance and repair costs pursuant to Section 2.3 which are not paid when due shall 

constitute a lien upon the premises served, as provided in section 66.0821(4)(d) of the 

Wisconsin Statutes, as amended or renumbered from time to time. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

MONITORING 

 

4.1 Frequency.  The Company shall maintain  and operate all monitoring and sampling 

equipment described in Article II of this Agreement to comply with the following schedule: 

 

Parameter Sample Frequency Type of Sample 

Flow Daily Continuous 

BOD Daily 24-hr Composite 

Suspended Solids Daily 24-hr Composite 

Total Phosphorus Daily 24-hr Composite 

Chlorides Daily 24-hr Composite 

pH Daily 24-hr Composite 

 

 

4.2 City Sampling and Testing.  The parties acknowledge that at the present time, the City is 

not required to develop or maintain a pretreatment plan to conform to applicable 

regulations.  The City may in the future, however, implement such a plan and enact 

implementing ordinances, which may impact the extent to which Company and other users 

of the WWTP must pay for sampling or testing.  Except as otherwise provided for in City 

ordinances enacted pursuant to the implementation of a pretreatment plan, the City, at is 

sole cost, shall collect samples and conduct the requisite testing for BOD, suspended solids, 

phosphorus, ammonia, and pH. Testing results will be provided to the Company as soon as 

practicable following the availability of the results.  Continuous flow data will be collected 

periodically by the City from the SCADA system.  From the Effective Date until the 

Implementation Deadline, samples obtained under Section 4.1 or 4.2 hereof, shall be tested 

by the City at a frequency equal to the greater of:  (i) at least three (3) days per calendar 



Page 9 of 17 

week or (ii) the number of test days as established in the City’s WPDES Permit for testing 

the effluent discharges from the WWTP. After the Implementation Deadline the City shall 

test as it determines appropriate in its discretion. 

 

4.3 Split Samples.  Upon request, split samples will be prepared for the Company for 

verification of testing results by an independent laboratory. All fees for independent lab 

testing shall be the responsibility of the Company. If split sample testing demonstrates 

significant discrepancies in testing results, a meeting between the Company and the City 

will be held to discuss the discrepancies and to determine if any adjustments will be 

required to the monthly billing invoice. The Company must present appropriate 

information regarding the discrepancies within fourteen (14) days of receipt of split 

sampling results and the subsequent meeting is to be held within thirty (30) days of 

Company’s receipt of split sampling results. If resolution cannot be reached regarding 

necessary adjustments, the parties shall resolve the matter as provided for in Section 7.7 

below. 

 

4.4 Other Means.  At all times during the period in which the Company is discharging to the 

public sewerage system, the City shall, at its sole cost, have the right to monitor the 

discharge stream by whatever method and for whatever period it shall deem necessary. The 

City monitoring activities shall not unreasonably interfere with any lawful operations of 

the Company. 

 

4.5 Company Sampling and Testing.  In the event the Company performs any sampling or 

monitoring of any discharge from the Facility to the WWTP it shall promptly notify the 

City of such activity and provide copies of all results of such activity to the City promptly 

upon receipt of them itself, without charge to the City.  

 

ARTICLE V 

 

VIOLATIONS 

 

5.1 Forfeiture.  Material violations of any conditions of this Agreement (other than violations 

for failure to pay sewer service charges, application fees or Penalty Charges), shall result 

in forfeiture by the Company of $500 per day. Each violation shall be considered a separate 

violation and continuing violations shall accrue on a daily basis. Notice of violation shall 

be provided by the City as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of the 

violation, unless a different time is provided for in City ordinances.  If the City knows or 

reasonably should have known of a violation but fails to provide notice to the Company 

within ten (10) days of the violation or as otherwise specified under City ordinances, the 

City shall not recover more than $5,000.00 in forfeitures due to such violations for the 

period of time prior to the notice. Forfeitures may be reduced and/or waived by the City, 

in its sole discretion, when it considers it is in the public interest to do so and in response 

to corrective measures to be taken to resolve the problem(s) leading to the violations(s). 

Appeals from any forfeiture shall be made in writing to the City Clerk within thirty (30) 

days of the aforesaid notice of violation.  Failure to pay sewer service charges, application 

fees, Penalty Charges and forfeiture amounts are subject to the provisions of Section 7.6 



Page 10 of 17 

below.  In the event the City commences legal action to enforce any provision of this 

Agreement, and substantially prevails in such action, the Company shall pay to the City all 

costs incurred by the City in such action, including reasonable attorney fees. 

 

5.2 Suspension of Service. In the case of emergency, where a continued discharge of industrial 

wastewaters from the Facility poses a clear and present threat to life, limb or property, or 

in the case where discharges from the Facility would likely have the effect of causing a 

violation of the City’s WPDES Permit, any of which shall be in the sole determination of 

the City, the City may immediately suspend the Company’s right to discharge industrial 

wastewaters to the WWTP.  Discharge may be resumed only at such time as the underlying 

situation that gave rise to the emergency or condition has been corrected to the City’s 

satisfaction. The decision to suspend service may be appealed to the City Council; but such 

appeal shall not stay the suspension. 

 

5.3 Termination of the Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, 

in the event that the Company should cause (i) a Triggering Event to occur under Section 

3.4(B) or Section 3.4(F) hereof, or (ii) commit a material violation of any other provision 

of this Agreement more than ten (10) times within any twelve (12) consecutive month 

period, the City may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement, in its entirety; and 

the Company shall cease all discharges of industrial wastewaters into the public sewerage 

system upon such termination.  Termination under this Section 5.3 shall be effective upon 

thirty (30) days notice to the Company.  For purposes of this Section 5.3, a material 

violation of this Agreement shall be deemed to have occurred when the City has given 

notice of such violation(s) as provided for in Section 5.1 above and the Company shall 

have failed to cure such violation within the time frame specified therein; and if no time 

frame is so specified, within thirty (30) days thereafter; except that with respect to 

violations of Section 3.4(B) or Section 3.4(F) hereof, only one notice of violation shall be 

given, which notice shall follow the meeting referred to therein. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

 

TERM 

 

6.1 Term of Renewal.  This Agreement shall be in effect upon the Effective Date, and shall 

expire on March 31, 2025.  The term hereof shall automatically renew thereafter for a term 

that corresponds to the term of the WPDES Permit issued by the DNR to the City relative 

to the WWTP.  Such renewal shall be deemed to be automatic and upon the same terms 

and conditions contained herein, unless either party provides the other with written 

notification of intent not to renew at least three (3) years prior to the expiration of the initial 

term or any renewal terms, as the case may be.   

 

6.2 Modification of WPDES Permit.  If during the term of this Agreement, the DNR 

determines to modify or change in any way the City’s WPDES Permit for the WWTP, the 

parties agree to negotiate in good faith for any necessary changes to this Agreement.  If 

agreement is not reached, the Agreement shall terminate at the earlier of three (3) years 

from the date the parties terminate the negotiations or when the changes in the WPDES 



Page 11 of 17 

Permit that precipitated the negotiations become effective.  This Section 6.2 shall not limit 

the City’s ability to add ADL’s as specified in Section 5 of Exhibit A. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 

7.1 Compliance.  The Company shall comply with Chapter 340 of the City Code, except to the 

extent this Agreement permits otherwise.  In the case of a conflict between the City Code 

and this Agreement, then the Agreement shall be the regulating document.  In the absence 

of a conflict, the City Code and this Agreement are both regulating documents. 

 

7.2 Notice.  Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be 

sufficient if in writing and if sent by certified mail to the City or to the Company at the 

following address: 

 

CITY: City of Waterloo 

 Attn:  City Clerk’s Office 

 135 North Monroe Street 

 Waterloo, WI 53594 

 

COMPANY: Van Holten’s, Inc. 

 Attn:  President 

 703 West Madison Street 

 Waterloo, WI  53594 

   

7.3 Waiver.  The waiver by the City of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by the 

Company shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof. 

The waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by the City 

shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof. 

 

7.4 Amendment.  This Agreement shall be modified or amended only in writing, which must 

be duly executed by both the City and the Company. It may not be amended or modified 

by oral agreements or understandings between the parties unless the same is reduced to 

writing and so executed. 

 

7.5 Effect.  This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements between the parties and 

relating to the subject matter hereof. 

 

7.6 Collection.  In the event that the Company fails to make any payment of undisputed sewer 

service charges, fees or other charges hereunder when due, the same shall bear interest at 

the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per calendar month from due date until paid.  

In the event that the City is required to take any action for purposes of enforcing the terms 

and provisions of this Agreement or collecting any amounts due and owing from the 

Company, then in such event, it shall be entitled to recover from the Company, all 

reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing, including but not 



Page 12 of 17 

limited to reasonable attorney’s fees.  Any failures to pay any undisputed amounts due 

hereunder shall result in the same being considered a delinquent sewer service charge and 

collectable in the manner provided for by law.  Any dispute as to the foregoing fees and 

charges shall be initiated by the Company and resolved pursuant to the provisions of 

section 66.0821(5), Wis. Stats.  The Company shall pay to the City all such disputed 

amounts, as and when due, pending any appeal take pursuant to the aforesaid statute.  In 

the event it is determined that the City has improperly charged the Company, the City shall 

return to the Company such improper charges, together with interest thereon at the legal 

rate. 

 

7.7 Dispute Resolution.  The parties agree to act in good faith and attempt to resolve disputes, 

first, through negotiation and non-binding mediation and, if negotiations and mediation are 

unsuccessful, then either party may pursue any other remedies available at law or in equity; 

including but not limited to a complaint to the Wisconsin Public Service Comission in 

accordance with section 66.0821(5) of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

7.8 In the event any acts or omissions of the Company in the performance of this Agreement 

results in any charge, fine, forfeiture, or enforcement action against the City by the 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, or any other governmental authority with 

jurisdiction, the Company shall reimburse the City 110% of  all resulting costs incurred by 

the City, including reasonable attorney fees. 

 

7.9 Intentionally left blank.   

 

7.10 Legal Relationship.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create an 

employer/employee relationship, a joint venture relationship or a principal/agent 

relationship. 

 

7.11 Force Majeure.  No Party will be considered in breach or default of its obligations in the 

event of delay in the performance of such obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond 

its control and without its fault or negligence (each such event, a “Force Majeure Event”).  

Force Majeure Events shall include, without limitation, natural disasters, acts of the public 

enemy, agents of the federal government, fires, floods, epidemics, pandemics, quarantine 

restrictions and unusually severe weather, it being the purpose and intent of this provision 

that in the event of the occurrence of any such delay the time or times of performance of 

any of the obligations of the party will be extended for the period of the delay as determined 

by the other party, provided that the party seeking the benefit of the delay will have first 

notified the other party thereof of the cause or causes thereof and requested an extension 

of the period of the delay. The provisions of this Section shall not limit or restrict the rights 

of the City pursuant to Section 5.2 above. 

 

7.12 Governing Law and Jurisdiction.  This Agreement will be construed and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of Wisconsin, without regard to the conflict of laws principles 

that would result in the application of any law of any other jurisdiction. 

 



Page 13 of 17 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 

written above, at Waterloo, Wisconsin. 

 

 

VAN HOLTEN’S, INC. 

 

 

By:             

 Steve Byrnes, President     Date 

 

CITY OF WATERLOO 

 

 

By:            

             Jenifer Quimby, Mayor     Date 

 

 

Attest:            

                       Jeanne Ritter, City Clerk    Date 

 



Page 14 of 17 

VAN HOLTEN’S EXHIBIT A 

AGREED DISCHARGE LIMITS 

 

(1) Average ADL. Shall not exceed normal domestic strength wastewater meeting the 

requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s code 

of ordinances after the Implementation Deadline.  From the Effective Date until the 

Implementation Deadline the average daily value for any consecutive thirty (30) 

day period shall not exceed: 

 

Flow                     70,000  gallons per day  

 BOD          500       pounds per day 

 SS         250       pounds per day 

 NH4         23         pounds per day 

  

 

(2) Maximum Daily ADL. Shall not exceed normal domestic strength wastewater 

meeting the requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the 

City’s code of ordinances after the Implementation Deadline.  From the Effective 

Date until the Implementation Deadline the maximum daily value computed as the 

peak for any 24-hour period shall not exceed: 

 

Flow          87,500   gallons per day 

BOD          625        pounds per day 

SS          313        pounds per day 

NH4         29          pounds per day 

 

(3) Fats, Oil, and Grease ADL. Concentrates of oil and grease shall not exceed the 

limits set forth in the City’s Ordinances, as amended from time to time, for any 

composite sample over a 24-hour period; and no visual signs of floating or 

coagulated grease are authorized. 

 

(4) pH Range ADL. Shall not exceed normal domestic strength wastewater meeting 

the requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s 

code of ordinances after the Implementation Deadline.  From the Effective Date 

until the Implementation Deadline the permitted range for pH shall be 6 to 9 for 

any 24-hour composite sample. If the Company provides continuous pH monitoring 

of the discharges, the pH range can be from 5.5 to 9.5. Before the Implementation 

Deadline the City reserves the right to adjust the permitted pH range with 30-days 

notice if high or low pH values in the incoming wastewater at the City’s facility are 

causing problems with the treatment process.  

 

(5) Nitrogen  ADL. The City and the Company recognize that excessive or deficient 

nitrogen concentration in the form of ammonia, organic nitrogen, and other 

compounds containing nitrogen may have negative impacts on the operation of the 

WWTP.  At this time there are no limits that will be designated for ammonia or 

total nitrogen, however, the City reserves the right to require such limits before the 



Page 15 of 17 

Implementation Deadline if adding them becomes necessary, in the sole 

determination of the City, for the City to meet the requirements of the City’s 

WPDES permit. 

 

(6) Chloride ADL. The Average ADL for chloride shall be 800 pounds per day, weekly 

average.  This limit shall apply on and after January 1, 2025.  Sampling for chloride 

shall occur as provided in Article IV of the Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 

provisions of Section 5.1, in the event the Company discharges of chloride exceed 

the above limitation, the Company shall pay a forfeiture to the City of $10,000 per 

event on a weekly basis.  The provisions of Sections 5.2 and 5.3 shall also apply.   

The City shall not impose the above-referenced $10,000 forfeiture on account of an 

exceedance by the Company of the amount of chloride set forth above unless said 

exceedance proximately results in, or contributes to, a violation of the City’s 

WPDES Permit. 

  



Page 16 of 17 

VAN HOLTEN’S EXHIBIT B 

PRETREATMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 

(1) Minimum Requirements.  The pretreatment facilities described in the Plan shall, at 

a minimum, include the following capabilities: 

 

 Grease, oil, sand, and grit trapping and/or sedimentation facilities as required in 

the reasonable determination of the City based on the discharge constituents; 

 pH sensing with chemical feed adjustment, at the request of the City and upon 

reasonable notice, if (i) the Company exceeds the pH limits set forth in Section 

1.2 more than four (4) times in any consecutive twelve (12) month period; or (ii) 

the City observes that the discharges into the public sewer system are causing 

damage or injury to the public sewers conveying the wastewaters or are having a 

detrimental effect upon the operations of the downstream lift station after and/or 

the treatment plant of the City.  The City agrees that before making the aforesaid 

request, it shall first meet with the Company to review the circumstances 

described in (i) or (ii) above; 

 Pre-treat the industrial wastewaters so that the wastewater effluent discharged 

into the WWTP does not exceed normal domestic strength wastewater meeting 

the requirements for a Category A user as defined in Section 340-11 of the City’s 

code of ordinances; 

 Flow equalization as required to limit the maximum discharge rate to 200% of 

the maximum monthly discharge over a 12 month (calendar year) period.  Slug 

discharges and dumping are specifically prohibited; and 

 Adequate storage capacity to totally contain a potentially toxic discharge of 

industrial waste; or to prevent a chemical spill or similar discharge from entering 

the City system without proper pretreatment. 

 

(2) Sampling Station.  A sampling station either has been, or shall be, constructed and 

maintained by the Company that meets the requirements set forth in Article 2 of 

this Agreement, and that includes the following: 

 

 All process waste will be discharged to an effluent equalization basin where the 

effluent pump will pump the waste through a magnetic flow meter which will 

discharge to an approved discharge location.  The refrigerated composite sampler 

shall sample flow/time proportional samples from the discharge line.  It may 

exclude wastewater discharge from bathrooms and showers. 

 Company shall have a data logger and will make the information stored on the 

data logger available to the City upon request as provided in the next sentence. 

 The sampler, flow meter and data logger must be accessible at all times by the 

City, subject to an obligation of City personnel accessing same to comply with 

all applicable state and federal food safety laws. 

 Sampling is required for every operating day at the Facility unless less frequent 

sampling is agreed to in writing by the Parties. 



Page 17 of 17 

 Testing will be performed for every discharge day, or other schedule agreed to in 

writing by the Parties.  Samples shall be taken at the required frequency even if 

testing is not performed. 

 The pretreatment system at the Facility shall be accessible at all times to the City 

upon reasonable notice to Company for purposes of determining Company’s 

compliance with this Agreement, subject to an obligation of City personnel 

accessing same to comply with all applicable state and federal food safety laws. 



Page 13 of 17 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 

written above, at Waterloo, Wisconsin. 

VAN HOLTEN’S, INC. 

By:  

Steve Byrnes, President Date 

CITY OF WATERLOO 

By: 

      Jenifer Quimby, Mayor Date 

Attest: 

Jeanne Ritter, City Clerk Date 

August 2nd, 2022



 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/FILESHARES/DATA/common/resolutions/2022 resolutions/b - proposed/2022-28 2023 wheel tax/#2022-28 2023 wheel 

tax.docx 

  

                      
 

                      

                           136 North Monroe Street, Waterloo, Wisconsin 53594-1198 

                                                      Phone (920) 478-3025 

                                                      Fax (920) 478-2021 
 

 

   

 
RESOLUTION #2022-28 

Establishing A 2023 Municipal Vehicle Registration Fee Status  
Per Adopted Ordinance #2019-08 

  
The Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin does hereby resolve as follows: 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2019-08 directs the City Council to annually establish a Municipal Vehicle Registration 

fee status for the coming calendar year, and; 

 

WHEREAS, the Clerk/Treasurer’s office has presented a revenue summary as part of this recurring 

resolution. 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Waterloo Common Council that it sets the 2023 fee status 

as follows: 

 

 Maintain a $15 annual registration fee. 

 

 Modify the existing fee: ______________________________________ 

 

 Rescind this fee. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this _________ of 2022. 

 

       City of Waterloo 

 

 

      Signed:  ______________________________________ 

                    Jenifer Quimby, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

_________________________________ 

Mike Tschanz, Treasurer/Deputy Clerk 

 



Date: July 28, 2022 

To: Common Council Members 

From: Police Chief Denis P. Sorenson 

 

 

Subject: Class A and B Intoxicating Liquor and Beer License Applications 

The following Class A, B and C License applications have been 

reviewed and are following the regulations, ordinances, and laws of the City 

of Waterloo Municipal Code. 

NAME OF INDIVIDUAL/PARTNERSHIP/LLC "Class B" Class Class 

"A" 
"Class A" "Class A" "Class C" Cigarette 

AGENT NAME Intoxicating "B" Beer Intoxicating Intoxicating Wine License 

ADDRESS OF APPLICANT Liquor Beer License Liquor Liquor License  
TRADE NAME License License  License License   
PREMISE LOCATION     (Cider only)   
PREMISE DESCRIPTION        

Waterloo Piggly Wiggly #170   X X   C 
 Days Family Foods, INC        
Nathan Perry, Agent        
402 N Pleasant St Cambridge 
 
 

       
810 N. Monroe Street        
Retail Supermarket        

        
Council Approval 


